JUN 2 2 2012

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 30185-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION THREE

DOROTHY A. MILLICAN, as Personal Representative of the estate of DAREN M. LAFAYETTE, and on her own behalf as statutory beneficiary,

Appellants,

V

N.A. DEGERSTROM, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

and

MICO, INCORPORATED, a Minnesota corporation; JAMES R. BONNER and JANE DOE BONNER, husband and wife, and the marital community comprised thereof, d/b/a INDUSTRIAL POWER BRAKE COMPANY,

Defendants.

ON APPEAL FROM SPOKANE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Kathleen M. O'Connor)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

I. INTRODUCTION

Nineteen-year-old Daren LaFayette burned to death after rescuing innocent members of the public from imminent collision with construction machinery that rolled away due to the concurrent negligence of a general contractor and subcontractor. But for the failure to use a simple, fail-safe device—a wheel chock—this tragic accident would not have happened, and LaFayette's life would not have been lost. Undisputed evidence established that the general contractor, N.A. Degerstrom, Inc., failed to supervise or enforce compliance with chock requirements, and it advanced no valid excuse or justification for this violation of the Washington Industrial Health and Safety Act of 1973 (WISHA). Yet, as a result of errors by the trial court, the jury returned and the court entered judgment on a verdict that absolved N.A. Degerstrom of negligence.

The trial court committed evidentiary error when it denied LaFayette's estate's motion in limine to exclude evidence that N.A. Degerstrom attempted to delegate to subcontractor Sharp-Line Industries, Inc., its nondelegable duty to ensure compliance with safety regulations. Such evidence was not relevant, and its erroneous admission was prejudicial because it provided N.A. Degerstrom an improper basis to argue—and the jury to find—that Sharp-Line, an immune nonparty, was solely negligent. This requires reversal and a new trial.

Setting aside the erroneously admitted evidence, LaFayette's estate was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on breach of duty and proximate causation. Because there was no evidence that N.A.

Degerstrom supervised or enforced compliance with the chock requirements, no properly admitted evidence supported a verdict that N.A. Degerstrom was blameless. Absent such evidence, N.A. Degerstrom was negligent as a matter of law, and its negligence was a proximate cause of the accident that killed LaFayette. The trial court thus erred in denying the estate's motion for judgment as a matter of law and a new trial limited to the issue of damages.

In addition, the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that N.A. Degerstrom owed a duty to protect members of the public from harm while traveling through the construction site, independent of the duty to protect the health and safety of workers. Under the estate's proposed instruction, the jury could have found that N.A. Degerstrom's breach of this duty was a proximate cause of LaFayette's death in that he acted to rescue members of the public from imminent peril caused by N.A. Degerstrom's omissions. The refusal to give this instruction requires a new trial.

This Court should direct entry of judgment as a matter of law on negligence and proximate causation and remand for a new trial on damages. If this Court grants such relief, it should also reverse the summary judgment dismissal of LaFayette's mother's claim, as she raised a genuine issue of material fact regarding her dependence on her son for financial support under RCW 4.20.020.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES ON APPEAL

A. Assignments of Error.

- Appellants assign error to the trial court's denial of the estate's motion in limine no. 2, which requested exclusion of any evidence or argument that N.A. Degerstrom attempted to delegate responsibility for safety or otherwise relinquish control over Sharp-Line's work.
- 2. Appellants assign error to the trial court's denial of the estate's motion for judgment as a matter of law and a new trial.
- 3. Appellants assign error to the trial court's refusal to give the estate's proposed instruction no. 18, which would have instructed the jury that N.A. Degerstrom owed a duty to exercise ordinary care to protect the traveling public from dangerous conditions within the construction site.
- 4. Appellants assign error to the trial court's entry of summary judgment dismissing Dorothy Millican's personal claims on the grounds that she failed to raise an issue of material fact with respect to her dependence on LaFayette for financial support.
- Appellants assign error to the trial court's entry of judgment on the verdict.

B. Statement of Issues.

 Where a general contractor owes a nondelegable duty to ensure compliance with safety regulations, did the trial court err in refusing to exclude in limine evidence or argument that N.A. Degerstrom attempted to delegate responsibility for safety or otherwise relinquish control over Sharp-Line's work?

- 2. Where the undisputed trial evidence was that N.A. Degerstrom made no effort to supervise or enforce compliance with chock requirements, in its accident prevention program or otherwise, did the trial court err in denying judgment as a matter of law on liability and a new trial on damages?
- 3. Where the estate presented evidence from which a jury could have found that N.A. Degerstrom's failure to supervise or enforce compliance with chock requirements put members of the public in imminent peril, prompting a successful rescue by LaFayette, did the trial court err in refusing to instruct the jury that N.A. Degerstrom owed a duty to exercise ordinary care to protect the traveling public from dangerous conditions within the construction site?
- 4. Where Mrs. Millican presented ample evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding her dependence on LaFayette for financial support, did the trial court err in granting summary judgment and dismissing her personal claims?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. N.A. Degerstrom, Inc., General Contractor, Subcontracted with Sharp-Line, Inc., for Road Signage and Striping.

The Federal Highway Administration awarded N.A. Degerstrom the prime contract to improve a five-mile stretch of the Flowery Trail Road near Chewelah, Washington. RP 1305-06; Exh. P1. That vehicles

and machinery could roll away was a foreseeable hazard on the project, which consisted of a steep, mountain road leading up to a ski resort. RP 251, 473. Less than a year before LaFayette's death, another subcontractor's vehicle rolled down an embankment when its brakes failed to keep it on the inclined roadway. Exhs. P7, P51.

A major purpose of the project was to make the road safer for public travel, including by straightening some of its sharper curves. RP 584. The project spanned the 2005 and 2006 construction seasons and involved blasting, grading, paving, and related construction. RP 468-69, 584. N.A. Degerstrom's contract with the federal government required it to "provide and maintain work environments and procedures which will...safeguard the public[.]" Exh. P1 at 111.

N.A. Degerstrom subcontracted with Sharp-Line Industries, Inc., for road striping and installation of permanent highway signs. RP 251, 280-81, 1305; Exh. P5. Sharp-Line had in its fleet of equipment an auger truck—a 1978 Chevrolet C-65 outfitted with a hydraulic auger mounted on a boom, which Sharp-Line used to drill holes in the ground for sign posts. RP 175; Exhs. P46, D111. The truck's machinery included outriggers that extended to stabilize the truck while the auger was in use and a tamper, a hydraulic device that bounced up and down to tamp the soil around sign posts. RP 176, 198-202, 811.

The auger, tamper, and related machinery were powered by a power take-off or "PTO," a device that engaged the truck's transmission to transmit power from the engine. RP 201-02. To engage the power take-

off, the truck's engine had to be running and the transmission had to be in neutral. RP 201-02, 359-60. Thus, the engine would always be running and the transmission in neutral while the crew was performing sign installation work. *Id*.

Behind the auger truck, Sharp-Line towed a flat-bed trailer loaded with sign posts and materials. RP 66, 93, 821-22.

B. Sharp-Line's Crew Foreman Parked the Sharp-Line Auger Truck on an Incline without Wheel Chocks.

Other than flaggers and a pilot car guiding public traffic through the construction zone, Sharp-Line was one of the only subcontractors on the job site on September 12, 2006. RP 1184-85. Traffic control was needed because Sharp-Line's auger truck, with its outriggers deployed, was wider than the shoulder and encroached into the driving lane. RP 337.

A two-man crew of LaFayette and another Sharp-Line employee, William "Coit" Wright, was installing permanent highway signs on September 12. Wright was the crew's foreman. RP 336. Only Wright was qualified to drive the truck; LaFayette was not trained to do so nor was he old enough to obtain the required commercial driver's license. RP 352. Late in the afternoon, Wright and LaFayette stopped at the location for the last sign they were to install that day. Exh. P23. Wright parked the truck facing downhill and engaged the power take-off. *Id.*; RP 66. He did not engage the parking brake, nor did he chock the wheels. Exh. P23. He did engage a supplemental parking brake called a lever

lock, which locks the hydraulic fluid in the braking system to keep the brakes applied. *Id.*; RP 155, 172. The lever lock is not a substitute for the regular, mechanical parking brake or wheel chocks. RP 172.

C. When the Auger Truck Rolled Away, Daren LaFayette Heroically Rescued Members of the Public from an Imminent Collision Before Burning to Death in a Fiery Wreck.

LaFayette started assembling the sign while Wright deployed the outriggers and used the auger to drill a hole for the sign post. Exh. P23. Wright then stowed the auger and retracted the outriggers, and the men finished assembling the sign, cut the post, and set out to bury it in the hole. *Id.* Because the tamper was needed to bury the post, the power take-off remained engaged, meaning that the engine was running and the transmission was in neutral. RP 409. LaFayette was operating the tamper. Exh. P23. As N.A. Degerstrom admitted, the cab was unattended while the men worked behind the truck, near the trailer. RP 478-79, 608-09.

Meanwhile, members of the public were driving up the mountain behind a pilot car in a group of several vehicles. RP 63. The last vehicle in the group was a pickup driven by residential contractor Steven Arce. RP 60-63. Arce and his passenger, Jacob Wells, were en route to a customer's cabin to install drywall. RP 60-61. They saw the Sharp-Line crew working behind the auger truck. RP 64-65. As they approached, they noticed the truck start to roll and the Sharp-Line crew react:

[W]e were—just normal, nice drive up there, and next thing we know, the vehicle started rolling toward us, both gentlemen, you know, appeared to be shocked and, you know, their eyes opened wide and they started—they

moved from between the trailer and the truck, because the trailer was connected to it, they moved [from] between the two to the passenger side and started running after the vehicle.

RP 67. LaFayette dropped the tamper, and both he and Wright ran after the truck. RP 67-68; Exh. P23. The truck crossed the center line and headed directly toward Arce's pickup. RP 68-69. Arce pulled close to the guard rail on the right side but believed a collision was inevitable. RP 68-69.

LaFayette had a head start and was faster than Wright. RP 67-68. He sprinted 100 to 150 feet and managed to catch up with the truck and climb in through the passenger side door. RP 67-68. He immediately slid across the bench seat, took control of the steering wheel, and narrowly prevented an imminent collision, passing within a foot of Arce's pickup. RP 68-70, 84. Arce heard gears grinding, as though LaFayette was attempting to shift the truck into gear. RP 70. Although the truck was speeding up, LaFayette was able to steer it into the right lane and negotiate the next corner before Arce and Wells lost sight of the truck. RP 71-72.

Jack Mezzanatto, a flagger, was working downhill from the Sharp-Line auger truck. RP 811. Unaware the truck was a runaway, Mezzanatto noticed the tamper dragging behind and called out a notice on the CB radio. RP 811-12. He then saw Wright up the hill in the middle of the road waving his arms and drove up to meet him. RP 813. Wright got in Mezzanatto's vehicle, and they gave chase to the auger truck. RP 813.

LaFayette managed to keep the auger truck on the road for a mile and a half, without colliding with anything, until he was unable to make a curve to the left. RP 120, 131. A state trooper testified that, at that point, the truck was "travelling at such a speed that any input he made with the steering wheel would have been insufficient to keep [it] on the road." RP 131. The truck probably reached 80 m.p.h. or more. *See* RP 131-32.

The auger truck smashed through a guardrail and went airborne before crashing down on its right side at the bottom of an embankment and bursting into flames. RP 127-29, 815; see Exhs. P52, P53. LaFayette burned to death as the wreckage became engulfed in flames, preventing anyone from attempting to rescue him. RP 815-16.

D. LaFayette's Estate and His Mother Sued for Damages, but the Trial Court Dismissed Mrs. Millican's Personal Claim.

LaFayette's mother, Dorothy Millican, as personal representative of LaFayette's estate and on her own behalf as a statutory beneficiary, sued N.A. Degerstrom and others¹ alleging negligence. CP 7-23. The trial court dismissed Millican's personal claims on summary judgment on the ground that, as a matter of law, she was not substantially dependent upon LaFayette for financial support under RCW 4.20.020. CP 943-46, 1284-87. The defendants conceded LaFayette was not at fault for his death. *See* RP 11, 915. The trial court ruled that Sharp-Line's negligence was not a superseding cause. RP 1321.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 9

¹ Millican asserted claims against MICO, the lever lock's manufacturer, and James Bonner, its installer. On appeal, Millican does not challenge the verdicts in favor of MICO and Bonner.

E. Washington Law Imposes on General Contractors a Primary and Non-Delegable Duty to Ensure Compliance with Safety Regulations for the Benefit of All Workers on the Job Site.

Although the Flowery Trail Road is on federal land, the project was subject to WISHA and the corresponding worker safety regulations promulgated by the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries, Title 296 WAC. RP 697, 1128. The Washington Supreme Court has held that WISHA imposes on employers a nondelegable duty to comply with WISHA regulations for the benefit of all workers on the job site. *Stute v. PBMC, Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 457-60, 788 P.2d 545 (1990), citing RCW 49.17.060(2). The general contractor, because of its innate supervisory authority, bears the primary responsibility to ensure compliance. *Id.*; *see also Kamla v. Space Needle Corp.*, 147 Wn.2d 114, 122, 124, 52 P.3d 472 (2002). This includes, but is not limited to, an obligation to furnish safety equipment to subcontractors or contractually require them to furnish adequate safety equipment relevant to their responsibilities. *Stute*, 114 Wn.2d at 464.

F. The Trial Court Refused to Exclude the Subcontract, in Which N.A. Degerstrom Purported to Delegate to Sharp-Line Sole Responsibility for the Safety of Sharp-Line's Employees.

Shortly before trial, the estate moved in limine to exclude any evidence or argument that N.A. Degerstrom delegated its safety responsibilities or otherwise did not retain control over Sharp-Line's work. CP 1548-49. In its subcontract with Sharp-Line, N.A. Degerstrom purported to delegate to Sharp-Line sole responsibility for the safety of Sharp-Line's employees:

Subcontractor accepts responsibility to prevent accidents to any persons who may be close enough to its operations to be exposed to Subcontractor's work-related hazards. Subcontractor shall be solely responsible for the protection and safety of its employees, for final selection of additional safety methods and means, and for daily inspection of its work area and safety equipment. Failure on the part of Contractor to stop unsafe Subcontractor practices shall in no way relieve Subcontractor of its responsibility hereunder. . . .

Exh. P5 at 6 (emphasis added). N.A. Degerstrom responded to the motion in limine by arguing that *Stute* did not apply and that the delegation provisions in the subcontract were relevant to negligence. CP 1638-40, 1643.

The trial court made a definitive and final ruling denying the estate's motion in limine, reasoning, "In terms of if you can say there is a non-delegable [duty], well, *Stute* says you can enter into a contract with your subcontractor to deal with the safety issues." RP 2, 5-6; CP 1913-14. The court said the "bottom line" was that the evidence was "all going to come in." RP 2; *see also* RP 5-6.

The denial of the motion in limine allowed N.A. Degerstrom to profess in opening statements that N.A. Degerstrom validly and effectively delegated its safety responsibilities to Sharp-Line:

And what I'm going to be providing you today are the several contract provisions that discuss safety between Sharp-Line and NA Degerstrom. And I will, again, . . . I will be showing you that all these provisions are appropriate and allowable under Washington law, and that safety is allowed to be [--] with regard to a specialty subcontractor, NA Degerstrom could delegate those responsibilities.

They also have—we requested that Sharp-Line be solely responsible for providing protection and safety of its employees...

RP 46 (emphasis added).

Having lost its motion in limine, the estate sought to mitigate the adverse effects of the irrelevant evidence by introducing the subcontract in its case-in-chief and arguing that such delegation of responsibility was ineffective. RP 279, 299-300, 1239; Exh. P5. The estate thus elicited the following testimony from Michael Craig, president of Sharp-Line, regarding the subcontract's delegation provision:

- Q. Did you believe that by this provision, they were delegating all responsibility to you, Sharp-Line for the safety of your employees?
- A. I don't know about delegating all the responsibility, but I know what it's saying is we are responsible for our people.
- Q. ... But was it your understanding, based upon that provision that I just read, that NA Degerstrom was giving you, by this contract, sole responsibility for the safety—
- A. Yes.
- Q. —of your employees?
- A. Yes.
- O. Is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you have any other understanding, outside of this contract, that Degerstrom was also responsible for the safety of your employees?
- No, I don't believe so.

RP 300-02. N.A. Degerstrom's attorney referred to this testimony during her cross examination of Mr. Craig, elicited further testimony that this contract was not "anything out of the ordinary," and referred to the testimony in her closing argument. RP 374, 847.

N.A. Degerstrom repeatedly argued in closing that it contractually delegated responsibility for employee safety to Sharp-Line. For instance, defense counsel argued:

Now, a general contractor is not able to see all those trees in the forest at one time. Nor can it see any of the leaves at any given moment. But it's the subcontractors that have agreed to take care of those leaves.

100

[The subcontract provides that] Sharp-Line was solely responsible for the protection and safety of its employees.

RP 846-47. N.A. Degerstrom further argued that the accident was the result of Sharp-Line's sole negligence:

Here we're asking that you [find that] the proximate cause of this accident was not Degerstrom's actions, but it was the result of . . . the act of some other person. And that person is Coit Wright of Sharp-Line.

. .

This accident occurred...because of bad decisions by Coit Wright, making him the person responsible for this accident, not Degerstrom.

. 30

In your deliberations, if you are able to conclude that Coit Wright and Sharp-Line's negligence were the proximate cause of this accident, then even though you—even though you can't award them a line on the special verdict form, you can find that the other defendants were not negligent in this matter.

RP 845, 868, 869 (emphasis added).

G. WISHA Regulations Require Employers to Establish, Supervise, and Enforce a Site-Specific Accident Prevention Plan and Require Equipment to be Chocked When Parked on Inclines.

A WISHA regulation required management to establish, supervise and enforce a safe and healthful working environment and an accident prevention program:

> It shall be the responsibility of management to establish, supervise, and enforce, in a manner which is effective in practice:

- (a) A safe and healthful working environment.
- (b) An accident prevention program as required by these standards.

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