FILED

SEP 2 4 2012

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By\_\_\_\_\_

#### No. 301851

#### COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

#### DOROTHY A. MILLICAN, as Personal Representative of the Estate of DAREN M. LAFAYETTE, and on her own behalf as statutory beneficiary,

Appellants,

۷.

#### N.A. DEGERSTROM, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

and

MICO, Incorporated, a Minnesota corporation, JAMES R. BONNER d/b/a INDUSTRIAL POWER BRAKE COMPANY,

Defendants.

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

Lori K. O'Tool, WSBA #26537 Megan M. Coluccio, WSBA #44178 Earl M. Sutherland, WSBA #23928 Attorneys for Respondent N.A. Degerstrom, Inc.

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

A motion for a new trial, "requires that the evidence be interpreted most strongly against the moving party and in a light most favorable to the opponent. No element of discretion is involved." *Davis*, 63 Wn.2d. at 254-55. As a matter of law, a court cannot grant a motion for a new trial unless there is no substantial evidence to support the non-moving party's claim. *Id*.

The Supreme Court has stated, "We interpret the evidence 'against the [original] moving party and in a light most favorable to the opponent." *Faust v. Albertson*, 167 Wn.2d 531, 537-38, 222 P.3d 1208 (2009) (alteration in original) (quoting *Davis*, 63 Wn.2d at 254). The Court must defer to the trier of fact on issues involving conflicting testimony, credibility of the witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. See *Faust*, 167 Wn.2d at 537-38. Jury instructions to which no exceptions are taken become the law of the case. *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 144 Wn.2d 907, 917, 32 P.3d 250 (2001).

#### C. No Abuse of Discretion Denying New Trial: Substantial Evidence Properly Admitted Supported the Verdict of a Properly Instructed Jury

#### 1. The Court Correctly Decided the Pre-Trial Motions In Limine

In her motion in limine number 1, Ms. Millican sought to have the court exclude **all** evidence that Sharp-Line or Wright caused the accident. CP 1520-1544. In her motion in limine number 2, she sought to prevent NAD from arguing that it contractually required Sharp-Line to take responsibility for the safety of its operations and equipment. The stark exclusionary relief sought left the court with no alternative but to deny the motions in limine. *See*, RP 2-3, 5-6 ("The bottom line is that evidence is coming in"). The propriety of the court's pre-trial rulings is demonstrated below. The attempt now to parse out these motions and to transform them into a request for narrower relief simply reveals that Ms. Millican waived the narrower arguments pre-trial by not preserving them.

#### a. Wright's Admission of Fault was Highly Relevant

On this appeal, Ms. Millican no longer argues that Wright's admission of fault could be excluded; or that nothing except his sworn statement should come in. CP 1520-44, 1554-58. Ms. Millican's counsel nevertheless argued to the court about the

impact of the evidence about Mr. Wright in connection with instructions:

[The proposed instruction] overemphasizes the fault of Mr. Wright and the employee.

THE COURT: I'm not sure you can overemphasize that.

RP 1412. The court was correct about the impact this evidence had. NAD had no way of knowing Mr. Wright would not correctly use the Mico lever lock, as it did not know this device was even installed on the truck. NAD could not anticipate the conspiracy of events, including Wright's raising the outriggers or failure to set the parking brake, nor could it predict that a sudden break failure would occur at 4:30 p.m. on September 12, 2006. The jury had substantial evidence from which they could conclude NAD was not negligent in avoiding this accident.

Two eye witnesses at the scene, Mr. Arndt and Mr. Mezzanatto, both recounted that Mr. Wright knew that he did not follow his training by repeatedly stating at the scene that the accident was his fault. RP 515-16; 816. The jury reasonably concluded that Mr. Wright's failures were the sole proximate cause of the subject accident. The fact that he is immune from liability does not automatically create liability on the part of NAD. *Edgar v. City of Tacoma*, 129 Wn.2d 621, 630, 919 P.2d 1236 (1996).

28

# b. The Court properly admitted the subcontract between NAD and Sharp-Line

Ms. Millican waived her objection to the admission of the subcontract. Looking past the waiver, however, well-established case law in Washington recognizes the relevance of the subcontract to the defense of NAD. The subcontract delineates Sharp-Line's role on the project where Daren Lafayette died.

The subcontract was properly admitted because as a nonimmune defendant, NAD was entitled to establish that the negligence of Daren Lafayette's employer, Sharp-Line, or the fellow employee Mr. Wright was the sole proximate cause of the accident. *Edgar, supra*. The cases cited by Ms. Millican in her argument do not vary this precedent.<sup>8</sup> NAD was entitled to have the subcontract in evidence to establish that Sharp-Line breached its duties to provide for the safety of its employees.

In *Ward v. Ceco Corp.*, 40 Wn. App. 619, 623-25, 699 P.2d 814 (1985), a subcontractor attempted to avoid a duty to erect guardrails in its subcontract with the general contractor. A specific statute and regulation imposed a non-delegable duty **on the subcontractor** to erect guardrails for the protection of its own employees and other workers whom the subcontractor within the "zone of danger." *Id.* Unlike the subcontract in *Ward*, the subcontract between NAD and Sharp-Line did not delegate a duty

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ms. Millican does not acknowledge this precedent.

which was made specifically non-delegable by a statute or regulation. Instead, *Stute* provides:

A general contractor's supervisory authority is per se control over the workplace, and the duty is placed upon the general contractor as a matter of law. It is the general contractor's responsibility to furnish safety equipment or to contractually require subcontractors to furnish adequate safety equipment relevant to their responsibilities.

*Stute v. P.B.M.C.,* 114 Wn.2d. 454, 464, 788 P.2d 545 (1990) (emphasis added). Consistent with *Stute*, the subcontract properly required Sharp-Line to furnish adequate safety equipment relevant to their responsibilities.

The subcontract between NAD and Sharp-Line bears more similarities to the subcontract in *Degroot v. Berkley Construction*, 83 Wn. App. 125, 920 P.2d 619 (1996). That contract did not delegate specific duties declared non-delegable by statute or regulation. The subcontract in *Degroot* simply required that the subcontractor comply with all safety regulations and indemnify the general contractors for any liability incurred as a result of the subcontractor's violation of safety violations. 83 Wn. App. at 127.

Like the *Degroot* subcontract, the subcontract between NAD and Sharp-Line required that Sharp-Line furnish adequate safety equipment relevant to their responsibilities and have a safety program in place. Exh. P5 at 0006. Such a contractual allocation

30

of responsibility is specifically permissible under *Stute. See*, 114 Wn.2d at 464.

The subcontract in *Degroot* was admissible because it was relevant to the general contractors' defense. 83 Wn. App. at 129. The subcontract in this case was properly admitted for the same purpose. Unlike *Ward*, where the contract specifically delegated a specific safety duty made non-delegable by both statute and regulation (the duty to erect guardrails), the subcontract in this case dealt with Sharp-Line's duty of safety in a general sense.

Even without considering that Ms. Millican waived any objection to the subcontract, this Court cannot conclude the admission of the Subcontract under the circumstances at trial amounts to a manifest abuse of discretion. New trial is not warranted on this issue.

#### 2. Ms. Millican Waived Objection to the Subcontract

Several reasons support the conclusion that Ms. Millican waived the issue regarding the admission of the subcontract. First, Ms. Millican actually submitted a copy of the subcontract in her ER 904 which was submitted on April 7, 2011. CP<sup>9</sup>\*. Unlike NAD, which also submitted a copy of the subcontract, Ms. Millican did not redact any of the subcontract, including the language she claims was so prejudicial. CP\*. When NAD submitted its ER 904 copy of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> \*The ER 904 identification and objections are subject to a supplemental designation of clerk's papers. See note 4, ante.

the subcontract, it specifically redacted items such as the amount of the contract. NAD did this was because it brought a specific motion in limine on the subject of contract amounts, and it did not wish to submit such evidence to the jury.

Second, Ms. Millican links the trial court denial of her motion in limine no. 2 as necessarily admitting the entire contract. A redaction of offensive language would have dovetailed with the relief requested in motion no. 2, that NAD be barred from arguing it did not retain *some* responsibility for the worksite. CP 1548-49. Redacting the word "solely" from Exhibit P5 (at 0006) presumably would have sufficed:

Subcontractor shall be [] responsible for the protection and safety of its employees, for final selection of additional safety methods and means, and for daily inspection of its work area and safety equipment ....

If Ms. Millican found particular language in the subcontract particularly offensive, she had the opportunity to request that the court redact the particular language from the subcontract before being presented to the jury. When the trial court denied her motion in limine no. 2 she had the option to make a motion to redact the language she now deems prejudicial. Again, redacting the word "solely" from Exhibit P5 presumably would have sufficed.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The jury was instructed that NAD owed "non-delegable duties," including the specifications of negligence Ms. Millican identified for instruction. *See* CP 3176, *see also*, CP 3182 "*Stute* instruction" properly instructing the jury on non-delegable duties of NAD.

Third, Ms. Millican relies on *Dickerson v. Chadwell, Inc.*, 62 Wn. App. 426, 430-31, 814 P.2d 687 (1991), *review denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1011 (1992), and *Garcia v. Providence Medical Center*, 60 Wn. App. 635, 640, 806 P.2d 766 (1991), to argue that a party prejudiced by an evidentiary ruling may introduce the adverse evidence in an effort to mitigate its prejudicial effect and is not precluded from obtaining a review of the ruling. Unlike *Dickerson* and *Garcia*, the evidence at issue here is not testimony of witnesses, but documentary evidence which was addressed in each party's ER 904. The fact that Appellants submitted the subcontract as an exhibit to their ER 904 in early April 2011, a month before the trial began, indicates that Appellants intended to use the subcontract as an exhibit.

Finally, Ms. Millican made no objection to NAD's opening statement or closing argument regarding NAD delegating safety to Sharp-Line, despite complaining about it now on appeal.<sup>11</sup> The Court can reach only one conclusion: Ms. Millican waived these objections. Again, no basis exists on the issue of the subcontract's admission for a new trial. Taken together with the jury instructions that properly advised the jury of the law in Washington regarding non-delegable duties owed by NAD, the evidence admission was not an abuse of discretion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Appellant's Bief at 11, 13.

# 3. Stute and the WISHA regulations do not impose Strict Liability: Substantial Evidence proved that NAD fulfilled its Duties

Ms. Millican's argument on appeal equates the existence of the "non-delegable" duty imposed by *Stute* on NAD with strict liability for workplace injuries where some issue of fact exists as to whether NAD met its duty. In arguing the motions in limine, Ms. Millican's counsel made this claim. RP 2-6. The court did not grant the motions in limine. During several weeks of trial, the jury heard substantial evidence to conclude that NAD acted reasonably and was not negligent. The approach of Ms. Millican in this appeal emphasizes on one narrow issue, "chocking," the requirement for which and the circumstances surrounding its practice on the job was hotly contested.

The parties did not contest that the general contractor has primary responsibility under WISHA to make sure that it and its subcontractors at a common construction site comply with specific WISHA regulations to protect all employees of all entities working at the site. The court instructed the jury accordingly. CP 3182.

This "primary" responsibility does not mean that general contractors are the guarantors of all workers' safety. *Kasparian v. Old Nat. Bank*, 6 Wn. App. 514, 516-17, 494 P.2d 505 (1972), *compare* CP 3182. The law requires only that general contractors take reasonable safety precautions. "WISHA incorporates an employer's common law duty to take those precautions to keep the

workplace reasonably safe that an ordinarily prudent person would take." *Fischer-McReynolds v. Quasim*, 101 Wn. App. 801, 812, 6 P.3d 30 (2000) (emphasis added) (citing *McCarthy v. Department of Social & Health Serv.*, 110 Wn.2d 812, 818, 759 P.2d 351 (1988); RCW 49.17.060).

Courts have long recognized that "[G]eneral contractual rights [such] as the right to order the work stopped or to control the order of the work do not mean that the general contractor controls the method of the subcontractor's work." *Bozung v. Condominium Builders, Inc.,* 42 Wn. App. 442, 447, 711 P.2d 1090 (1985). In fact "[w]hether a right to control has been retained depends on the parties' contract, the parties' conduct, and other relevant factors." *Cano-Garcia v. King Cnty,* 168 Wn. App. 223, 235, 277 P.3d 34 (2012) (quoting *Phillips v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp.,* 74 Wn. App. 741, 750, 875 P.2d 1228 (1994)).

The Plaintiff's site safety expert Mark Lawless testified that it was not reasonable or industry standard to expect a general contractor to follow each subcontractor movement by movement to ensure that the subcontractor was performing work correctly and safely. RP 646.

NAD enacted safety policies and procedures that were effective in practice and were extensively communicated to subcontractors and their employees. NAD's duty to keep the work site reasonably safe that was that of an ordinary prudent person under the same circumstances. See CP 3179. Ms. Millican did not carry her burden.

If the court accepts the truth of NAD's evidence and the inferences that can reasonably drawn from that evidence, as it must, the court must conclude that the jury heard a "sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a rational, fair-minded person of the truth of the premise in question." *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 283 P.3d 567, 577 (2012) (quoting *Canron, Inc. v. Fed. Ins. Co.,* 82 Wn. App. 480, 486, 918 P.2d 937 (1996) (citing *Bering v. Share,* 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 (1986))); *see also, Davis, supra,* 63 Wn.2d. at 254–55. A court cannot grant a motion for a new trial unless there is no substantial evidence to support the non-moving party's claim. *Id.* In the following section, the substantial evidence the jury heard is reviewed in the context of the jury's instructions, the law of the case in light of the failure to except to the court's instructions on negligence.

# a. Violation of a WAC Regulation does not Prove Negligence

Plaintiff asserts that violation of a regulation or statute is "negligence as a matter of law." To the contrary, evidence of such a violation is merely a factor that "may be considered by the trier of fact as evidence of negligence." RCW 5.40.050. The jury was properly instructed to this effect. CP 3183 (violation of WAC "may be considered by you as evidence"). The language is permissive, not mandatory that the jury even must consider it evidence of negligence.

Each party's liability experts testified that there are over 35,000 Washington Administrative Code provisions. RP 643, 754. The law does not automatically impose liability upon NAD for a violation of any of these myriad regulations. Properly instructed on Ms. Millican's theories and the WAC regulations she contended were violated, the jury heard the evidence and concluded that NAD was not negligent in this case.

# b. NAD Acted Reasonably as a General Contractor

General contractors must take reasonably safe precautions in fulfilling their duties under applicable WAC provisions or WISHA for construction sites. In this case, the jury considered whether the general contractor NAD acted as a reasonable or an ordinary prudent person would to keep the work site reasonably safe. CP 3178-79; *see also, Guijosa,* 144 Wn.2d at 917, *supra,* (jury instructions given without objections become the law of the case).

The jury heard the testimony of a strong tone of safety from the top down, starting with the Federal Government, as well as inspections by Mr. Coleman, NAD onsite personnel, Stevens County, City of Chewelah, Washington State Labor & Industries, Telephone Company. RP 1129-38, 1143. The jury heard expert testimony from Kurt Stranne that NAD was also in compliance with construction safety regulations and the WAC regulations applicable to the Project. RP 695-98, 714-15, 723. Ms. Millican simply did not persuade the jury otherwise, that NAD acted unreasonably.

# c. WAC for Chocks Not Violated

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